# Monitoring in Natural England 2023-2026

July 2023

Natural England Technical Information Note TIN214

Natural England



www.gov.uk/natural-england

#### Contents

Acknowledgements
Introduction4
Our role4
Why we monitor4
Our vision for monitoring5
Framing our monitoring programme5
Our evidence products6
Principles of our Monitoring Programme10
Outcome focussed10
Collaborative10
Delivering impact12
Innovative12
Developing staff capabilities13
Mobilising data13
Implementing our proposals14
References

# Acknowledgements

This strategic plan for monitoring between 2023 and 2026 was commissioned by Natural England's Science, Evidence and Analysis Group in 2022 to update and replace the 2019 Natural England Monitoring Strategy. It was authored by Katie Clark but could not have been produced without the input of colleagues who provided their support as well as inputting their wide-ranging knowledge and experience through workshops, correspondence and conversation.

The author would like to thank and acknowledge: The Natural England's Science, Evidence and Analysis Group, the Natural England Science Advisory Committee, Isabel Alonso, Sue Beale, Katherine Birch, Viv Blyth-Skyrme, Pete Boardman, Chris Bolton, Daniel Burgess, Isabelle Cardinal, Andrew Chester, Andy Cole, Andrew Cooke, Chris Cooper, Jenny Craven, Humphrey Crick, Alison Darlow, Helen Doran, Claire Edwards, Kate Fagen, Emma Fawcett, Matthew Funnell, Oliver Grafton, Roger Griffin, Andy Guy, Ruth Hall, James Highfield, Emma Hinton, Wendy Holland, Michael Johnstone, Gary Kass, Abbie Keeper, Sam Kerr, Alice Kimpton, David Knight, Karen Kramer Wilson, Pippa Langford, Debbie Leatherland, Jamie Leeman, Tom Marshall, David Martin, Trudie Mills, Mike Morecroft, Andy Nisbet, Rory O'Connor, Kim Owen, Susanna Phillips, Clare Pinches, Colin Prosser, Suzie Qassim, Ian Saunders, Victoria Sloan, Isabel Sloman, Jo Traill Thomson, Mary Vayou, Ruth Waters, Jon Webb, Tim Wilkins, Hannah Wood, as well as input from (Defra) Helen Fox, Luke Francis, Hannah Hudson, Chrissie Ingle, Ashleigh Johnston, Lucy McMahon, Oliver Vaughan, (Environment Agency) Jenni Balmer, James Finigan, Ruth Hughes, Emily Parker, Sarah Pick, Thea Wingfield, (JNCC) Emma Wright and from the National Trust, Rosie Hails and Ben McCarthy.

# Introduction

This strategic plan sets out how we will improve Natural England's monitoring between 2023 and 2026 in terms of how effectively our monitoring provides evidence for nature's recovery and how efficiently we do it. It describes the high-level priorities and principles that we will use to monitor the natural environment on land, in our freshwaters and at sea, including the engagement of people with nature over the next three years. It contributes to delivering our Science, Evidence and Evaluation Strategy and meeting our Evidence Standard. It will guide and support more detailed plans such as those for marine monitoring and protected sites.

## Our role

Natural England is the Government's adviser for the natural environment in England, helping to protect and restore our natural world. Our statutory purpose, enacted within the Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006, is to help conserve, enhance and manage the natural environment for the benefit of present and future generations.

We have a wide remit, covering biodiversity, geodiversity, economics, natural capital approaches, soils and landscape, as well as understanding how people use and value the natural environment. High quality evidence products will ensure that the actions taken by us, as well as by our partners, drive forward nature recovery. We are in a unique position to use interdisciplinary evidence to support decisions and advice because of our expertise in applied environmental science, wide remit, focus on building partnerships and national and local presence.

## Why we monitor

Our monitoring programme is designed to answer key questions relating to the state of the environment, access, and enjoyment of people to nature and its benefits for society (Appendix 1). The evidence that we gather through our own monitoring activities, combined with additional data collected by partners enables us to make evidence-led decisions to deliver environmental policy, and to evaluate our success.

The Government has set binding targets to restore nature through the Environment Act 2021. It has committed to protect 30% of land and sea for nature by 2030 and create a Nature Recovery Network - a national network of wildlife rich places. The Government's Environmental Improvement Plan sets out additional interim targets and an Outcome Indicator Framework.

Reporting on the progress of these policies is an important purpose for our monitoring. However, to make meaningful steps towards recovering nature, we need to collect data and evidence that will enable us to make evidence-led decisions on complex issues that drive change on the ground. For example, developing new ways of understanding ecosystem health and the resilience of nature networks, including their value to people and society, should help us be more dynamic in our response to the multiple pressures on these systems and be more effective recovering nature.

## **Our vision for monitoring**



# Framing our monitoring programme

We can broadly class the data that we collect as either sentinel surveillance or targeted monitoring based on the characteristics outlined below, with examples given in Table 1.

Sentinel surveillance programmes are typically long-term programmes of survey and data collection that provide fundamental datasets which describe the state of the natural environment and how it is changing, pressures on it, benefits from it and how people use and value it. Data from sentinel surveillance programmes form the foundation of our evidence products and are used to answer key evidence questions at national and local scales.

Targeted monitoring is designed for specific purposes. These include the monitoring and evaluation of our interventions and activities. These can be over long periods and at national scales or be more local and time limited. Targeted monitoring will also be carried out in response to opportunities and risks. They may be exploratory or developmental, including research and development to test new ideas or approaches, or may include important one-off investigations or in response to a steadily mounting risk.

Table 1: Examples of sentinel surveillance and targeted monitoring programmes

Sentinel Surveillance examples might include:	Targeted Monitoring examples might include:
Supporting national and GB species surveillance and recording activities	Monitoring as part of Net Gain and Licencing
Natural Capital Ecosystem Assessment Programme	Evaluation of national Agri-Environment and Environmental Land Management programmes
Long Term Monitoring Network	Targeted survey and monitoring to inform national and international reporting
Monitoring engagement with the natural	Monitoring of Protected Sites and Landscapes on land and at sea
environment	Monitoring to collect baseline data for new Highly Protected Marine Areas

#### Resources

Natural England is committed to making the data generated from our monitoring programme publicly available under an open government licence. Collecting this data can be costly, and we need to collaborate with partners as much as we can to ensure we are using our resources to the best effect. The outputs – the evidence products - form part of an important public resource of data relating to the state of the environment, and the value of this for people. The data can be used for multiple reasons, for example to report on the Government's species targets, for a farmer to understand where the most important habitats and species are on their land, for regulators to use for terrestrial and marine strategic planning or for community groups to engage the public with species they can find in their local area.

Over the next three years we will explore how we can sustainably fund our future needs for monitoring. This could be through green finance initiatives and business relationships, through better interaction with scientific research partnerships or exploring the viability of producing some commercial products while still committing to making all data publicly available under an open government licence.

## **Our evidence products**

Appendix 1 lists the questions that we use to design our evidence products. These are fundamental questions about nationally important features and functions of the natural environment and landscapes, their benefits to society and how people use and value them. As well as gathering data to answer these specific questions, we want to combine these data with other datasets to provide integrated evidence products.

Specific evidence products are created from one or more datasets to produce a comprehensive product on a single subject. Examples are the England Peat Map, or the People and Nature Survey data.

Integrated evidence products are created by combining several evidence products and datasets with further analysis. Examples of these might be a State of Natural Capital report or the creation of new metrics to track environmental change at a whole ecosystem level.

#### Specific evidence product: England Peat Map

Output: a set of maps describing the extent, depth and condition of peat in England.

Source data: new and existing field data obtained from Natural England staff and partners, combined with satellite data.

Use: open access new national baseline evidence to support improved greenhouse gas emission reporting and peat restoration projects. The maps will also feed into integrated evidence products, such as the natural capital atlas.



© Christoph Kratz/ Natural England



© Natural England 2021. From Wigley et al. (2021)

#### Integrated evidence product:

#### **Natural Capital Atlas**

Output: a baseline assessment of the state of natural capital in England

Source data: many different datasets used to inform measurable indicators on the quantity, quality and location of environment assets that supply ecosystem services. Some datasets are from Natural England specific evidence products, but many are from other organisations.

Use: to understand the flow of different ecosystem assets across England, and how these change over time, to inform decision making around land use and planning.

#### Our data journey

When data is collected, it needs to go through several steps before it can be turned into evidence products. Data may be collected in different ways, but must then be audited, licensed, processed and stored before it can be analysed to create evidence products. This journey is illustrated in Figure 1 but does not end with the evidence products. Evaluation of any project will follow, understanding how the evidence products are used and how they could be improved. This knowledge will be used to improve the next cycle of data collection and analysis.



Figure 1: Schematic of data journey from source data, the steps in managing the data and how it may be input into specific and integrated evidence products.

# **Principles of our Monitoring Programme**

Our resources are not infinite. In this strategic plan we set out the high-level areas of work that we will undertake over the next three years, and the key questions we are seeking to answer, but we will need to prioritise to ensure we have collected robust monitoring data collected at an appropriate scale. To help us with this, we will focus our work over the next three years around a set of six principles that will set a structure to our monitoring programme. Our Monitoring Programme will be:

### **Outcome focussed**

We will set out the medium and long-term outcomes for our programme, mapping the contribution of our different monitoring projects to enable more integration. Our data collection is designed to meet new and emerging needs, using the best methods at the correct scale, and recognising the importance of long-term datasets. Our data collection and management allows reuse, sharing and interpretation to produce integrated evidence products.

We will evaluate our monitoring programme and ensure that evaluation is built into the separate programmes to ensure we are continually learning from them and increasing the impact of the evidence products produced.

Our integrated evidence products are designed to address broader questions. For example, there is increasing awareness of how society relies on nature to provide us with clean air, healthy soils, to produce food and provide natural spaces to enable people to connect with the natural world. We rely on the evidence gathered on the location, quality and quantity of environmental assets to produce integrated natural capital evidence and ensure their value is considered in decision making.

### Collaborative

There are many organisations and individuals involved in monitoring the natural environment. Natural England cannot and should not do all of this. For our activities to have the maximum impact on decision making and action, we need to work as a community and build partnerships. This includes how we gather monitoring data, how we analyse and interpret it and how we share and make it available. This is part of Natural England's mission of building partnerships for nature's recovery.

The data we use in our evidence products is often collected by our partners, rather than our own staff. For a monitoring partnership to be successful, we need standardised approaches in areas such as data collection and sharing, as well as areas such as the development of capacity in the community. Table 2 lists these areas, giving some examples of how we are working in this way.

#### Table 2: Collaborative approaches to monitoring

Approach	Partnership example	Impact
Develop common aims	The GenePools project, part of the Natural Capital and Ecosystem Assessment Programme (NCEA) developed common aims between Defra partners and the Natural History Museum to understand the biodiversity in urban ponds and engage the public in management.	Data will contribute to blue infrastructure mapping and urban species databases, as well understanding the engagement of participants.
Standardised data collection	The NCEA is working with partners to standardise data collection across its work, for example creating a Peat Data standard for surveying peat.	All peat data collected using the standard can be included in the England Peat Map.
Data sharing	Through the Local Nature Recovery Strategies (LNRS), we have been building local partnerships with multiple stakeholders sharing data to create maps of the local area on habitats, species and activities.	Partners have access to a comprehensive map to use in decision making. These maps will also contribute to the larger Nature Recovery Network.
Building community capacity	Through our community science work within the NCEA, we are developing local pilot hubs to co-ordinate local community science, build knowledge and collect data.	Local hubs boost volunteer engagement and evidence gathering, using standardised methods that enable the wider use of the evidence.
Joint projects with shared resources	The LNRS schemes bring together the local authority(s) with Natural England and a wide range of local stakeholders, to identify joint opportunities for habitat restoration and creation.	LNRS partnership provides a framework to collect the required evidence to build business cases that help to attract funding and apply resources where they would have the most impact for nature recovery, with buy-in from all partners.
Creating joint evidence products	Through the NCEA Programme, we have partnered with the Botanical Society of Britain and Ireland (BSBI) to create botanical heat maps based on BSBI plant records.	The heatmaps provide insights into the locations and types of high value habitat present, to assist spatial planning and land management decisions.

However, there is still a lot of data collected which could be usefully integrated into our evidence products. We will expand the work given as examples in Table 2 across our monitoring programmes to ensure that we can more easily bring in the best available data to our evidence products which will be open access and freely available as far as possible. We also want to further develop methods by which we can more easily bring in data collected by our partners in non-standard ways, such as citizen science or from new technologies.

One such example are the local nature recovery strategies, where we are actively seeking ways to bring together data collected by partners with our national datasets as part of England's Nature Recovery Network. At a local scale we can work with partners to provide the standards and structure needed to collect datasets that will inform local management and success. We can then build on this data at a national scale by integrating datasets to understand the network components and look to fill gaps strategically.

### **Delivering impact**

We want to increase the impact of our evidence. Many of our datasets have multiple uses, and we need to understand these to improve impact more widely. For example, saltmarsh habitat mapping may not only inform reporting on the condition of saltmarsh within protected sites, but also for how it provides services such as food and shelter to species such as birds and fish, and carbon storage for climate mitigation. The data can be used for decisions on local planning, flood risk mapping, and have a value placed upon it using natural capital approaches. Its condition may form part of a metric which gives an indicative measure of the health of the coast where it is placed. It may form part of a local nature recovery scheme, and the map may be used to contribute to the national Nature Recovery Network.

To show the impact of our evidence we firstly need to understand who is using it, and why. We need to evaluate the use of our evidence products and if there are any barriers currently preventing further use. We need to then design our projects with these uses in mind from the outset. We need to build in methods to assess impact into our evaluation processes for our evidence products, how these projects contribute towards the overarching outcomes of our monitoring programme.

#### Innovative

The scale of ambition to halt the decline in biodiversity loss by 2030, as well as respond to the changing climate means that we need to develop new ways of collecting and interpreting environmental data. New methods of collecting data at scale that can be used easily and cost effectively could form part of a future surveillance programme that would enable us to track the status of the environmental assets at a broad scale and intervene at an early stage.

New methods offer us an opportunity to understand the environment in different ways. For example, our Moorland Change Map used satellite imagery to show annual changes in moorland vegetation which has enabled targeted engagement and management. Our monitoring team are developing innovative methods using DNA and eco-acoustics for species monitoring.

To answer our key monitoring questions, we are particularly interested in how new methods can be integrated with other datasets and paired with new analytical methods to create new environmental indicators and metrics. We are already testing the use of

approaches such as natural ecosystem function indicators in our protected sites work. We will build on, and operationalise, approaches such as these to embed them into our ongoing monitoring programmes. We will continue to collaborate with many partners to develop and test new technologies and how they might be applied to our work. We will support our staff to explore the use of innovation within their work areas.

As an example, we currently survey thousands of ponds each year for Great Crested Newts as part of our District Level Licensing scheme. The surveys use environmental DNA (eDNA) to detect the presence or absence of Great Crested Newts in ponds, but we obtain little other information. We are exploring what other species data we can collect from the same eDNA sample, and if we can use this information to understand the quality of the pond from the sample, maximising the benefits of the field survey.

We cannot drive forward innovation in an effective way without considering how we might monitor the environment in the future. Over the next three years, we will develop a vision of what our monitoring programme could look like in twenty years' time. We will use this to help steer our priorities in developing new and innovative methods to a common goal, and it will help us to influence research by clearly articulating the outcomes that we need.

### **Developing staff capabilities**

Our reputation depends upon us being trusted and recognised for our expertise. We are a leader in applied environmental sciences, especially through the integration of evidence from across disciplines and across our broad remit. An effective monitoring programme enhances our expert capability and reputation, with activities that support integration within Natural England and across the Defra group.

In order to deliver such a programme, we need to maintain and build the skills and capability of our people. These will include a wide range of environmental, analytical, project management and social science disciplines, as well interdisciplinary skillsets such as systems thinking. Through a learning needs assessment, we will identify the skills that we need now, those that we will need in the future and match these with what we currently have. We support the development of these technical, professional and interdisciplinary skills.

### Mobilising data

We need data management systems and analysis platforms that are able to support our monitoring programme. We need to help our staff to understand the full journey of the data their projects generate and provide training on new processes and standards to ensure the final products can be used in as many ways as possible. We need to be able to process, store and share data from all our monitoring activity in a timely fashion and consistently in line with our Open Data position. We need to make it easier to bring in data from third parties through a robust quality checking process, and easier to pull out and integrate different datasets for distinct needs and objectives, such as our reporting commitments.

To achieve this, we will need to work across the community to develop standards where these don't currently exist, and to map our ability to integrate current datasets, developing methods for integration as needed. We will build on the data mobilisation work that has been started by the Natural Capital and Ecosystem Assessment Programme to mobilise third party data, promoting the use of the FAIR data principles (Wilkinson et al., 2016), and ensure that we have the correct agreements in place in any partnerships or contracts to license the use of the data appropriately. Throughout this work, we will consider how we can incorporate automation within processing, as well as considering innovation in analytical and processing methods. We need to ensure we have the correct digital infrastructure in place to enable us to achieve the goals of our monitoring programme.

## Implementing our proposals

An implementation plan is being developed with a programme of activity under each of the six principles to deliver this strategy and improve our monitoring programme. We will implement these across Natural England and work with partners where we have common interests and objectives.

# References

Defra (2023). Environmental Improvement Plan 2023. Available at: <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/1133967/environmental-improvement-plan-2023.pdf</u> (Accessed: 25<sup>th</sup> May 2023)

Defra (2019). Measuring environmental change: outcome indicator framework for the 25 Year Environment Plan. Available at:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_ data/file/925779/25-yep-indicators-2019.pdf (Accessed: 25<sup>th</sup> May 2023)

The Environment Act. 2021. c.30. Available at: <u>https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/30/contents</u> (Accessed: 25<sup>th</sup> May 2023)

Wigley, S., Paling, N., Rice, P., Lord, A., and Lusardi, J. 2021. National Natural Capital Atlas, Natural England Commissioned Report Number 285. Second edition. Natural England.

Wilkinson, M. D., Dumontier, M., Aalbersberg, I.J., Appleton, G., Axton, M., Baak, A., Blomberg, N., Boiten J-W., Bonino da Silva Santos, L., Bourne, P.E., Bouwman, J., Brookes, A.J., Clark, T., Crosas, M., Dillo, I., Dumon, O., Edmunds, S., Evelo, C.T., Finkers, R., Gonzalez-Beltran, A., Gray, A.J.G., Groth, P., Goble, C., Grethe, J. S., Heringa, J., 't Hoen, P.A.C., Hooft, R., Kuhn, T., Kok, R., Kok, J., Lusher, S.J., Martone, M.E., Mons, A., Packer, A.L., Persson, B., Rocca-Serra, P., Roos, M., van Schaik, R., Sansone, S-A., Schultes, E., Sengstag, T., Slater, T., Strawn, G., Swertz, M.A., Thompson, M., van der Lei, J., van Mulligen, E., Velterop, J., Waagmeester, A., Wittenburg, P., Wolstencroft, K., Jun Zhao, J., Mons, B. 2016. The FAIR Guiding Principles for scientific data management and stewardship. Scientific Data 3, 160018.

#### Appendix 1: Key monitoring questions

Assets	How much do we have and where is it?	To understand our assets; location and
	How are important natural environment features	quantity of the natural environment and landscapes
	and landscapes distributed across England?	
Condition	What condition is it in?	To establish the state, quality and durability of the natural environment and landscapes.
	What condition are important natural environment features, functions and landscapes in and how resilient are they?	
Benefit	What services do they underpin?	To establish their worth; benefit and value to society and identify Natural Capital benefits.
	What services do natural environment features and functions underpin and how do we benefit?	
Enjoyment	How are they used and enjoyed?	To understand how people engage with and put value on the distribution of benefits from the natural environment and landscapes.
	How is people's use and enjoyment of the natural environment and landscapes of England, and associated social well-being, changing?	
Accessibility	How accessible are they to people?	To understand the distribution of accessibility to people across England.
	How accessible are landscapes and the natural environment to people across England?	
Pressures	What is harming them?	To understand what is harming the natural environment and/or limiting our success?
	What pressures are harming the asset, condition, benefit, enjoyment and accessibility of our natural environment features and landscapes?	
Trends	How are they changing?	To determine change; variation and transformation.
	How does quantity, quality and durability of important features, assets and functions change over space and time?	
Priorities	What is most important to focus on?	An overall assessment of what we know about their benefit, condition, pressures and effectiveness of interventions so far, to establish relative importance, urgency and prioritise intervention.
	What are the most important natural environment features, functions and landscapes to focus on within the land and sea of England?	
	What should we do?	To inform intervention; target and prescribe.
	How and where do we act to protect, enhance and strengthen important features, assets & functions?	·
Success	How successful are we?	To determine our effectiveness in achieving a clear objective, to understand what works, what doesn't, learn and adapt.
	This is all about evaluation. Have we achieved our objectives? How effective have our interventions been? What might we do to improve them?	

### **About Natural England**

Natural England is here to secure a healthy natural environment for people to enjoy, where wildlife is protected and England's traditional landscapes are safeguarded for future generations.

#### **Further Information**

This report can be downloaded from the <u>Natural England Access to Evidence Catalogue</u>. For information on Natural England publications or if you require an alternative format, please contact the Natural England Enquiry Service on 0300 060 3900 or email <u>enquiries@naturalengland.org.uk</u>.

### Citation

Clark, K.A.J. 2023. Monitoring in Natural England 2023-2026. TIN214. Natural England.

## Copyright

This publication is published by Natural England under the <u>Open Government Licence</u>  $\underline{v3.0}$  for public sector information. You are encouraged to use, and reuse, information subject to certain conditions.

Natural England images and photographs are only available for non-commercial purposes. If any other photographs, images, or information such as maps, or data cannot be used commercially this will be made clear within the report.

For information regarding the use of maps or data see our guidance on <u>how to access</u> <u>Natural England's maps and data</u>.

© Natural England 2023

Catalogue code: TIN214

